
 

 

Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association 

BOARD OF RETIREMENT 

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE/BOARD MEETING 

NOTICE and AGENDA 
 

ACERA MISSION: 
 

To provide ACERA members and employers with flexible, cost-effective, participant-oriented benefits 

through prudent investment management and superior member services. 

March 19, 2026 

1:00 p.m. 
 

LOCATION AND TELECONFERENCE COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

 
ACERA 

C.G. “BUD” QUIST BOARD ROOM 

475 14TH STREET, 10TH FLOOR 

OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA 94612-1916 

MAIN LINE: 510.628.3000 

FAX: 510.268.9574 
  
The public can observe the meeting and offer 

public comment by using the below Webinar ID 

and Passcode after clicking on the below link or 

calling the below call-in number. 
 

Link:  https://zoom.us/join 

Call-In: 1 (669) 900-6833 US 

Webinar ID: 879 6337 8479 

Passcode: 699406 

For help joining a Zoom meeting, see:  

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362193 

 
 

SCOTT FORD, CHAIR ELECTED GENERAL 

  

KEITH CARSON, VICE 

CHAIR 

APPOINTED 

  

OPHELIA B. BASGAL APPOINTED 

  

KELLIE SIMON ELECTED GENERAL 

  

HENRY LEVY TREASURER 

The Alternate Retired Member votes in the absence of the Elected Retired Member, or, if the Elected Retired Member is present, 

then votes if both Elected General Members, or the Safety Member and an Elected General Member, are absent.  

This is a meeting of the Governance Committee if a quorum of the Governance Committee attends, and it is a meeting of the 

Board if a quorum of the Board attends. This is a joint meeting of the Governance Committee and the Board if a quorum of 

each attends. 

Board and Committee agendas and minutes, and all documents distributed to the Board or a Committee in connection with a 

public meeting (unless exempt from disclosure), are available online at www.acera.org and also may be inspected at 475 14th 

Street, 10th Floor, Oakland, CA 94612-1916. 

Public comments are limited to four minutes per person in total. The order of agenda items is subject to change without notice. 

Note regarding accommodations: If you require reasonable accommodations or modifications for a disability, please 

contact ACERA between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at accommodation@acera.org or 

at 510-628-3000.

https://zoom.us/join
https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362193
https://www.acera.org/
mailto:accommodation@acera.org


GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE / BOARD MEETING 

NOTICE and AGENDA, Page 2 of 2 –March 19, 2026 

 

 

Call to Order: 1:00 p.m. 

 

Roll Call 

 

Public Input (Time Limit: 4 minutes per speaker) 

 

Action Items:  Matters for Discussion and Possible Motion by the Committee 

 

 

1. Review of the Board Communications Policy 

 

Staff Recommendation 

 

The Committee recommend to the Board that the Board affirm the Policy with one non-

substantive revision per the redline included in the agenda backup materials. 

 

– Jeff Rieger, Chief Counsel 

 

2. Review of the Service Provider Policy 

 

Staff Recommendation 

 

The Committee recommend to the Board that the Board revise the Policy per the redline 

included in the agenda backup materials. 

 

– Jeff Rieger, Chief Counsel 

 

3. Review of the Board Membership Policy 

 

Staff Recommendation 

 

The Committee recommend to the Board that the Board revise the Policy per the redline 

included in the agenda backup materials. 

 

– Jeff Rieger, Chief Counsel 

 

Trustee Input 

 

Establishment of Next Meeting 

TBD 

 

Adjournment 

 



 

 

Office of the Chief Counsel 
 
To: Governance Committee 

From: Jeff Rieger, Chief Counsel 

Meeting: March 19, 2026 

Subject: Policy Review 
 

 

At this meeting the Committee will review three policies under the normal three-year 
review cycle. Each is discussed below. 

Board Communications Policy 

Staff does not propose any substantive revisions to this Policy, which staff believes 
continues to be necessary and appropriate. A reference to “Gov. Code § 6254(c)” should 
be changed to “Gov’t Code §§ 7920.000 et seq.” due a non-substantive recodification of 
the Public Records Act, but otherwise staff recommends that the Board affirm the Policy 
without revision. 

Service Provider Policy 

Staff believes this Policy continues to be necessary and appropriate and proposes two 
revisions. 

First, staff recommends the Board increase the CEO’s delegated authority to enter into 
contracts with “General Service Providers” from $75,000 to $100,000 (and from $150,000 
to $200,000 with the Board Chair’s written approval). This proposed increase roughly 
accounts for inflation. The CEO’s delegated authority was $50,000 from 2004 to 2020 
when it was increased to $75,000. Based on a review of similar CERL retirement systems 
policies, $100,000 is a common level of delegation of authority for contracting (most do 
not appear to have a higher level of authority with the Board Chair’s written approval). 

Second, staff recommends adding language that staff will use reasonable efforts to 
confirm the cost of a contract is competitive and the services continue to be needed before 
entering into a contract, renewing a contract or every three years in the case of a contract 
that auto-renews, with annual reporting to the Board on that subject. 

Membership Policy 

Staff believes this Policy continues to be necessary and appropriate and proposes some 
revisions to the “Death Benefits” section for clarity and to account for some administrative 
changes in recent years. Staff also proposes some minor revisions regarding members 
who return to work for a participating employer, based on legislative changes and the 
County Board of Supervisor’s recent adoption of an optional provision of the County 
Employees’ Retirement Law (Section 31680.7). 



 

Board Communications 
Policy 

 

I. Purpose 

The purpose of the Board Communications Policy (Policy) is to encourage and facilitate 

open and effective communications among Board Trustees and between the Board and 

management, staff, and external parties. 

II. Objectives 

A. Trustees receive pertinent information in a consistent and uniform manner. 

B. Trustees have equal access to appropriate information. 

C. Communications are efficient and timely. 

D. Communications with management and other parties are accurate, consistent, and reflect 

the views or positions of the Board as a whole. 

III. Assumptions & Principles 

A. As a public agency, ACERA generates public interest and therefore periodically receives 

inquiries from the media and other interested parties. 

B. When communicating, Trustees recognize their sole and exclusive fiduciary duty to 

represent the interests of all plan members. 

C. Trustees must protect the integrity of the system, which includes the dissemination of 

accurate, appropriate, non-confidential and non-proprietary information to the public and 

media. 

D. Inappropriate or erroneous communications from Board members may represent a 

significant risk to the Plan, the Board, and individual Board members. 

E. This Policy must balance the need to mitigate communications risk with the need for open 

and efficient communication. 



Board Communications Policy revised affirmed July 
20March 19, 20263 

page 2 

 
IV. Policy Guidelines 

A. Communications Among Trustees 

1. The Board shall carry out its activities in the spirit of open governance, including 

the provisions of the Brown Act which include, but are not limited to: 

a. Ensuring that communications by and between Board members comply with 

the Brown Act; 

b. Properly noticing and posting an agenda for Board and Committee meetings; 

c. Properly describing all items to be considered in closed session in the notice or 

agenda for the meeting; 

d. Not conducting or participating in a series of communications one at a time or 

in a group that in total constitutes a quorum of the Board or Committee either 

directly or through intermediaries or electronic devices, for the purpose of 

developing a concurrence as to action to be taken; 

e. Not taking any action, whether preliminary or final, by secret ballot; 

f. Allowing proper public comment on agenda items before or during 

consideration by the Board; and 

g. Ensuring Board and Committee meeting agenda materials are properly made 

available to members of the public, upon request, without delay. 

2. Trustees should promptly communicate all information that is relevant to the 

business of the Board to the Board Chair, the appropriate Committee Chair and/or 

the CEO, if it appears that such communication would be of value to ACERA. 

3. During meetings of the Board and Committees, Trustees shall communicate in an 

open, frank, and constructive manner. 

B. Trustee Communications with Plan Members 

Trustees shall mitigate the risk of miscommunication with plan members and third parties 

by not giving explicit advice, counsel, or education with respect to the technicalities of 



Board Communications Policy revised affirmed July 
20March 19, 20263 

page 3 

 
ACERA laws, policies, or processes. When receiving questions from a plan member, 

Trustees shall: 

1. Refer the member to the main telephone number of ACERA or the ACERA 

website; or 

2. Refer the member question directly to the appropriate ACERA senior manager for 

handling and a response. 

C. Trustee Communications with ACERA Management 

1. Trustees will direct concerns or questions concerning any aspect of ACERA 

operations to the attention of the CEO or other appropriate member of senior 

management.  

2. Any request for information that requires significant expenditure of staff time or 

external resources shall by directed to the CEO who will determine whether to take 

the request to the full Board for consideration at a meeting. 

3. Board members should share information in their possession pertinent to the 

affairs of ACERA with the CEO in a timely manner if it appears that such 

information would be of value to the CEO.  

D. Trustee Communications with External Parties 

1. The purpose of any communications by Trustees shall be consistent with their sole 

and exclusive fiduciary duty to represent the interests of all plan members. 

2. Trustees and senior management are expected to respect the decisions and policies 

of ACERA in external communications even if they may have opposed them or 

disagreed with them during Board deliberations. 

3. In external communications, Trustees are expected to disclose when they are not 

representing an approved ACERA position. 

4. Board members shall not disclose confidential communications received orally or 

in writing during closed session meeting of the Board or Committees or from 

internal or external legal counsel and identified as confidential. 



Board Communications Policy revised affirmed July 
20March 19, 20263 

page 4 

 
5. When an organization seeks the Board’s input on an issue (by formal vote or 

otherwise), a Trustee may provide input to that organization on behalf of the Board 

only if the Board has authorized that Trustee to provide such input. The Board 

may delegate to a Trustee authority to provide input to an organization on specified 

issues or on an ongoing basis with respect to a particular organization (subject to 

the Board’s right to revoke that authorization). The Board may grant or revoke 

such delegated authority only at an open meeting of the Board.  

E. Trustee Communications with the Media 

In addition to the guidelines for communications with external parties, when 

Trustees communicate with the media the following guidelines shall apply: 

1. When interviewed or otherwise approached by the media for information 

concerning the affairs of ACERA, Trustees shall not make any unilateral 

commitments on behalf of the Board. 

2. In situations that call for a spokesperson from the Board and it is not practical for 

the Board to develop a formal position at a Board meeting, the Chair or his or her 

designate shall act as spokesperson for the Board, in consultation with the CEO. 

The spokesperson generally should request that the reporter put questions in 

writing, and attempt to review for accuracy any resulting materials before their 

publication. 

3. Written press releases concerning the business of the Board shall be prepared by 

staff and shall be approved by the CEO in consultation with the Board Chair. 

4. Trustees are free to write articles for publication that pertain to official ACERA 

business. To help ensure the accuracy of such articles and that ACERA is not 

inadvertently placed at risk by such articles, all such articles shall be reviewed by the 

CEO and legal counsel before being submitted for publication. The Trustee must 

state at the beginning of the article that the article does not represent the Board’s 

official position (unless the Board has authorized the article as its official position). 

5. Requests from the news media will be given high priority and responded to quickly 

and efficiently. 

6. Trustees will not provide false, confidential or privileged information to the media. 



Board Communications Policy revised affirmed July 
20March 19, 20263 

page 5 

 
7. Personnel and member records or similar records contain private confidential 

information that is protected by Article 1, Section 1 of the California Constitution 

or other laws. Such records are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records 

Act (Gov’t. Code §§ 7920.000 et seq.6254(c)) and Gov’t Code § 31532. Personnel 

records generally include performance evaluations, disciplinary actions, contact 

information, medical information, member correspondence with ACERA and 

other private information. Member records are confidential to the extent permitted 

by the law. No such information shall be disclosed to the media. 

V. Policy Review 

The Governance Committee shall review this policy at least every three (3) years to ensure 

that it remains relevant and appropriate. 

VI. Policy History 

A. The Board adopted this policy on March 16, 2000. 

B. The Board reviewed and affirmed this policy, without revisions, on July 20March 19, 

202361. 

 

1 The Board adopted the Policy on March 16, 2000. The Board reviewed and adopted this policy, with revisions, on October 19, 2006; September 16, 
2010; June 21, 2018; and April 18, 2019. The Board reviewed and adopted this policy, without revisions, on July 17, 2008; December 20, 2012; 
December 18, 2014;  and December 17, 2020 and July 20, 2023.. 



 

Service Provider 
Policy 

 

I. Purpose 

The purpose of the Service Provider Policy (Policy) is to establish the Board of 

Retirement’s (Board) practices for selection and retention of Board Approved Service 

Providers and General Service Providers, as those terms are defined herein. 

II. Definitions 

A. “Board Approved Service Providers” refers to those service providers that only the Board 

has the authority to appoint regardless of the Estimated Annual Cost as defined below. 

These include:  Actuary, External Auditor, Custodian Bank, and Actuarial Auditor. 

B. “General Service Providers” refers to any business or individual retained by the Board to 

provide services to ACERA (including software providers), other than Investment Service 

Providers, Legal Service Providers, Product Providers, Temporary Employment Service 

Providers, and Government Providers, as those terms are defined herein. 

C. “Investment Service Providers” refers to Investment Consultants, Investment Managers, 

or any individuals or businesses that provide investment-related services or products. The 

process for appointment of Investment Service Providers is set forth in ACERA’s 

investment policies and guidelines. 

D. “Legal Service Providers” refers to service providers that provide legal counsel, litigation 

support, investigative services and mediation services to ACERA.  The process for 

engagement of Legal Service Providers is set forth in the Board’s Outside Counsel Policy.   

E. “Product Providers” refers to providers that supply products for ACERA’s normal 

business needs (e.g., office supplies, furniture, computer hardware, etc.). 

F. “Government Providers” refers to those county and state agencies that ACERA contracts 

with to obtain services. Such county and state agencies include, but are not limited to:  

Alameda County Registrar of Voters, Alameda County Human Resources Center, 

Alameda County Counsel’s Office, and Alameda County Lakeside Group. “Government 

Provider” contracts include inter-agency agreements designed to clarify roles and 

responsibilities between the various county agencies (i.e., 401(h) Inter-Agency Agreements 

with Participating Employers.) 



Service Provider Policy revised July 20March 19, 
20263 

page 2 

 
G. “Temporary Employment Services Providers” refers to service providers that ACERA 

contracts with to supply temporary staffing. 

H. “Contract” includes contracts, amended and restated contracts, amendments to contracts, 

and addenda. 

I. “Estimated Annual Cost” of a Contract is the value of the Contract divided by the term 

(in years) of the Contract, based on a calendar year. Where there are multiple Contracts 

between ACERA and the same entity or a closely related subsidiary during a given 

calendar year, the “Estimated Annual Cost” is the combined value of the multiple 

Contracts. 

J. “Project” is a Board-approved project for a specified amount of money that will be 

delegated to Staff to monitor and implement. 

III. Scope 

A. This Policy applies to Board Approved Service Providers and General Service Providers, 

as defined above. 

B. This Policy does not apply to Investment Service Providers, Legal Service Providers, 

Product Providers, Government Providers and Temporary Employment Service 

Providers, as defined above. 

C. The CEO is delegated authority over the selection and retention of Product Providers, 

Government Providers and Temporary Employment Service Providers. 

IV. Policy Guidelines 

A. General Guidelines 

1. The selection and retention of Board Approved Service Providers and General 

Service Providers will be made in the best interests of the members and 

beneficiaries of ACERA, in keeping with the fiduciary responsibilities of the Board 

and Staff. 

2. The selection of Board Approved Service Providers and General Service Providers 

will reflect a level of rigor that is commensurate with the importance and 

materiality of the service in question. The selection shall be efficient, diligent, 

transparent, economical and fair. 



Service Provider Policy revised July 20March 19, 
20263 

page 3 

 
3. ACERA will consider as broad a universe of qualified service providers that is 

practical and reasonable given budgetary, staffing, time, and other relevant 

constraints. 

4. Oral contracts are prohibited. 

5. No Board member or Staff member may participate in any way in the selection of a 

Board Approved Service Provider or General Service Provider Contract (or any 

other Contract) if a conflict of interest exists pursuant to applicable conflict of 

interest laws, regulations, and Board policies. A Board or Staff member with any 

such conflict of interest must disclose that conflict of interest to the Chief Counsel, 

so that the Chief Counsel can ensure compliance with all conflict of interest laws. 

B. Selection of Board Approved Service Providers 

1. The Board selects and contracts with Board Approved Service Providers. The 

Board may determine whether to issue a Request for Information (RFI), a Request 

for Proposal (RFP), or select based upon Staff recommendation or sole source 

options. 

2. If the Board decides to issue an RFP, the following steps provide guidance. Prior to 

conducting a search for a Board Approved Service Provider, Staff will present a 

written summary to the Board, which shall include: 

a. The type of service provider being sought and the supporting rationale; 

b. The objectives and selection criteria and their relative importance; 

c. An estimated timeline for completion of the search process; and 

d. A description of the search methodology that Staff deems most appropriate and 

cost effective under the particular circumstances, including: 

1) Whether a consultant is to be used in the search process; 

2) The due diligence efforts to be undertaken, including such efforts as 

site visits or reference checks. A copy of any criteria and weights to be 

used will be attached for information purposes. 

3) A copy of the proposed RFP; and 

4) Such other information that the Staff believes may assist the Board in 

better understanding the search process. 



Service Provider Policy revised July 20March 19, 
20263 

page 4 

 
3. Staff will provide the Board or a designated committee of the Board with periodic 

reports on the status of all search processes involving Board Approved Service 

Providers. 

4. Upon completion of the analysis and due diligence involved in a search process for 

a Board Approved Service Provider, Staff will provide the Board or a designated 

committee of the Board with a report containing, at a minimum: 

a. A description of the search activities undertaken; 

b. A list of finalist candidates and analysis concerning the candidates; 

c. Confirmation of compliance with the objectives, selection criteria and search 

methodology that were presented to the Board prior to the commencement of 

the search, or an explanation of any deviations that occurred; and 

d. A description of performance expectations. 

5. The Board, or a committee of the Board, will interview candidates recommended 

for appointment as Board Approved Service Providers. 

C. Selection of General Service Providers 

1. General Service Providers will be selected and contracted with as follows: 

a. If the Estimated Annual Cost of the proposed Contract is less than $10075,000, 

the CEO or Designee may select and contract with the Provider; 

b. If the Estimated Annual Cost of the proposed Contract is between $10075,000 

and $200150,000, the CEO may select and contract with the Provider, with the 

Board Chair’s written approval; 

c. If the Estimated Annual Cost of the proposed Contract is more than 

$200150,000, the Board must approve ACERA’s involvement in the Contract. 

In doing so the Board may issue an RFP, but is not required to do so. 

d. In lieu of applying (a)–(c) above, if the Board approves the total cost allocation 

for a Project, the CEO or the CEO’s designee can approve all contracts 

required to implement the Project, so long as the value of all the contracts for 

the Project do not exceed the Board’s original cost allocation for the Project.  



Service Provider Policy revised July 20March 19, 
20263 

page 5 

 
D. Monitoring 

The CEO and/or appropriate Staff will monitor the performance and services provided 

by all Board Approved Service Providers and General Service Providers. Before 

authorizing a contract or a contract extension, and at least once every three years for 

contracts that renew automatically, the manager responsible for approving payments 

under a contract will use reasonable efforts to confirm that the cost of the contract is 

competitive and that the services continue to be needed. On an annual basis, the CEO 

shall submit a report to the Operations Committee confirming that due diligence has been 

performed (including a review of the applicable contracts for competitiveness and 

confirmation that the services are still needed) prior to any renewal or extension. 

E. Contract Terms 

1. ACERA will not contract with the same Board Approved Service Provider or 

General Service Provider for more than five consecutive years without Board 

approval of a longer term. 

2. Except where business practices prohibit, all Contracts covered by this policy will 

provide that the CEO or the Board may terminate the Contract upon 30-day 

notice, with or without cause. 

3. Contracts must require the filing of statements of economic interests (Fair Political 

Practices Commission Form 700) when such filings are required by ACERA’s 

Conflict of Interest Code. 

V. Policy Review 

The Governance Committees shall review the Service Provider Policy at least every three 

years to ensure that it remains relevant and appropriate. 

VI. Policy History 

A. This policy was adopted by the Board at its September 29, 2004, Board Offsite Retreat. 

B. The Board reviewed and amended on July 20March 19, 20263.1 

 

1 The Board adopted this policy at itson September 29, 2004, Board Offsite Retreat. The Board reviewed and amended the policy on August 16, 
2007; June 17, 2010; August 18, 2011; December 15, 2011; March 21, 2013; December 19, 2013; December 17, 2015; November 9, 2017; and December 17, 
2020 and July 20, 2023. . 



 

Membership 
Policy 

 

I. Purpose 

This Membership Policy (Policy) contains the Board of Retirement’s (Board) rules of 

membership in the Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association (ACERA). If there 

are conflicts between applicable law and this policy, applicable law prevails.  

II. Membership Eligibility and Contributions 

A. Mandatory Membership 

1. Membership in ACERA is mandatory for employees appointed to full-time 

permanent positions with a Participating Employer.1 Each Participating Employer 

has the exclusive authority and responsibility to define what constitutes full-time 

employment and to identify its positions that are eligible for membership.2 An 

employer must, however, use the same definition for full-time employment for 

ACERA enrollment purposes as it uses for its other employment purposes.   

a. Employees of Livermore Area Recreation and Park District (LARPD) whose 

compensation is fixed by the day or hour are not subject to mandatory 

membership. 

2. By enrolling an employee in ACERA membership, the Participating Employer 

certifies that (a) the individual is an employee of the Participating Employer; (b) the 

employee’s position is eligible for membership with ACERA; (c) the employee 

works in a full-time permanent position (and for LARPD the employee does not 

have compensation fixed by the day or hour); and (d) the employee should be 

enrolled in ACERA. 

3. If a full-time employee who is a member of ACERA starts working less than full-

time, the employee continues to make contributions to ACERA and receive 

 
1 For Alameda Health Systems, membership is pursuant to Gov. Code §31552.4 and Health and Safety Code §101851. Unless stated otherwise, all 

references to statutes are California State statutes. 
2 ACERA has seven Participating Employers: (1) Alameda County; (2) Alameda Health Systems; (3) Alameda County Superior Court; (4) Housing 

Authority of Alameda County; (5) Livermore Area Recreation and Park District; (6) First 5 Alameda County; and (7) Alameda County Office of 
Education. 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 2 

 
proportional service credit based on the amount of time worked compared to a 

full-time schedule. 

B. Member Contributions 

1. Tiers 1, 2 and 3 member contribution rates are based on Tier and age at entry. Tier 

4 member contribution rates do not vary based on age at entry. All rates are 

adjusted annually. 

2. Participating Employers must withhold member contributions according to 

ACERA’s pay code list and timely forward such contributions to ACERA. 

3. Upon discovery of missed contributions, ACERA will assess the amount owed plus 

interest for both the member and Participating Employer and notify each of the 

amounts to be recovered through future payroll adjustments. ACERA will 

ordinarily apply interest to the underpaid employer contributions at ACERA’s 

semi-annual interest crediting rate, but reserves the right to assess additional 

interest (e.g., ACERA’s assumed rate of investment return) and add penalties to 

underpaid amounts in cases of intentional late payments or delays in remedying late 

payments. Interest on member contributions is determined according to ACERA’s 

Error Correction Policy. If a member no longer works for the employer, the 

member and employer remain responsible for the amounts owed. 

4. Tiers 1 and 2 Safety members with 30 years of service credit (including reciprocal 

service credit) make no member contributions. General Members with 30 years of 

service credit (including reciprocal service credit) and an ACERA membership date 

on or before March 7, 1973 make no member contributions. 

C. Date of Membership 

1. Membership is effective on the first day of the second pay period after the 

employee’s hire date into an ACERA eligible position (except the Housing 

Authority as noted below). This is the date of entry into membership, unless 

adjusted per Section VI(A)(2) of this Policy. As of the date of entry, retirement 

contributions begin and service credit is earned for each hour worked. 

2. During the short period between the beginning of employment and the ACERA 

date of entry, the employee does not make member contributions or earn service 

credit. A member can purchase this service credit any time before retirement (the 

member’s date of entry does not change). 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 3 

 
3. For the Housing Authority, membership is effective on the first day of hire in an 

ACERA eligible position. This is the date of entry into ACERA membership, 

unless adjusted per Section VI(A)(2) of this Policy. As of the date of entry, 

retirement contributions begin and service credit is earned for each hour worked. 

D. Excluded from Membership 

1. Less Than Full-Time. Any employee who is less than full-time, as determined by 

the employer, is excluded from ACERA membership. This may include, without 

limitation, Part-Time, Seasonal, Intermittent, As Needed, Per Diem and employees 

working in Temporary Agency Pool (TAP). 

2. Non-Permanent. Any employee who is non-permanent, as determined by the 

employer, is excluded from ACERA membership. This may include, without 

limitation, Temporary, Seasonal, Intermittent, As Needed, Per Diem and 

employees working in Temporary Agency Pool (TAP). 

3. Independent Contractors. If a Participating Employer hires individuals as 

independent contractors under an employment contract or through a third party, 

those individuals are not eligible for ACERA membership. Such working time does 

not count as any kind of service in ACERA and cannot be purchased at any time. 

The term “contract” as used in this paragraph does not refer to a collective 

bargaining agreement between organized labor and a Participating Employer. 

4. LARPD Hourly/Daily Compensated. Employees of LARPD whose compensation 

is fixed by the day or hour are excluded from ACERA membership, unless they are 

already members due to prior work schedule that qualified for membership (not 

compensated hourly or daily). 

E. Terminated Employees. Members who terminate employment before retirement may 

withdraw their accumulated member contributions plus interest or leave their funds on 

deposit with ACERA and retire when eligible. 

III. Membership Types 

There are two membership types, which are based upon job classifications: 

A. Safety members are employees working in active law enforcement, fire-fighting, or in 

positions that have been designated as safety positions (i.e., Juvenile Hall Group 

Counselor, Probation Officer, etc.). 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 4 

 
B. General Members are all other members who are not safety members. 

IV. Membership Tiers 

ACERA has different Tiers based upon a member’s date of entry. 

A. Tier 1 

1. General or Safety Members (other than employees of LARPD or the Housing 

Authority) who joined ACERA on or before June 30, 1983. 

2. General Members who joined ACERA as employees of the LARPD on or before 

September 30, 2008. 

3. General Members who joined ACERA as employees of the Housing Authority on 

or before September 30, 2011. 

B. Tier 2 

1. General or Safety members (other than employees of the LARPD and the Housing 

Authority) who joined ACERA on or after July 1, 1983, except those who must be 

enrolled in Tier 4. 

2. General members who joined ACERA on or after October 1, 2011, as employees 

of the Housing Authority, except for those who must be enrolled in Tier 4. 

Effective October 1, 2011, the Housing Authority implemented a new benefit 

formula for those employees who elected to change to Tier 2, and for any new 

Housing Authority employees. 

C. Tier 3. General Members who joined ACERA on or after October 1, 2008, as employees 

of the LARPD, except those who must be enrolled as Tier 4. Effective October 1, 2008, 

LARPD implemented a new benefit formula for those employees who elected to change 

to Tier 3 and for any new LARPD employees. 

D. Tier 4. For all Participating Employers, General and Safety Members who joined ACERA 

for the first time on or after January 1, 2013 (exceptions may apply to some members 

coming from a reciprocal retirement system who may be enrolled the Tier that was 

applicable on December 31, 2012). Also, members who were active members of ACERA 

and had a break in service of more than 6 months and returned to a different ACERA 

Participating Employer after January 1, 2013 are enrolled in Tier 4. 

E. Split Tier Membership. A member with service in different Tiers will receive benefits that 

are the sum of all benefits earned in all Tiers under which the member provided service. 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 5 

 
Some members with Split Tier membership may be able to convert credit under one Tier 

to another Tier by redepositing previously withdrawn contributions. Tier 4 members 

whose prior service was for a different Participating Employer and who had more than a 

six-month break between employments are not eligible for such a conversion.  

V. Service Credit Eligible for Purchase 

All service credit purchases must be completed before retirement and within five years of 

initiating the purchase. Time worked in the positions described in Section II(D)(3) is never 

eligible for purchase. Not all requirements for all types of service credit purchases are 

described below. ACERA staff will provide all requirements to members who inquire.  The 

following types of service credit are eligible for purchase: 

A. Time Prior to Entry Date. Service credit for the short period of time between the 

beginning of employment and the date of entry into membership may be purchased. 

B. Prior Ineligible Service. Members who were excluded from retirement membership 

because they worked less than full-time or in a non-permanent position for a Participating 

Employer may purchase this service once they become eligible for membership. 

C. Medical Leave of Absence Without Pay. A member who returns to active service 

following an uncompensated leave of absence on account of the member’s illness may 

purchase service credit for that leave time. No more than a year of service credit may be 

purchased for a single uncompensated leave of absence. 

D. Military Service Leave of Absence Without Pay. Members’ rights to purchase service credit 

for time while on leave to provide service to the military are stated in Gov’t Code §31649 

and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 

(“USERRA”). 

E. Redeposit of Withdrawn Contributions. A current member who previously terminated 

membership with ACERA and withdrew contributions and interest for that membership 

may redeposit the withdrawn funds plus interest that would have accrued up to the date of 

payment at any time before retirement. 

F. Other Prior Public Service. A member who worked for non-ACERA public agency before 

becoming a member of ACERA may be eligible to purchase service credit for such service 

if certain requirements are met. This type of service credit purchase, which costs the 

member more than other types, does not count towards retirement eligibility. 

 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 6 

 
 

 

VI. Reciprocal Membership 

A. General Rules 

1. Members who enter employment eligible for ACERA membership within six 

months after terminating employment under another California public retirement 

system with which ACERA has “reciprocity,” and who defer retirement from such 

other system, may have reciprocity between ACERA and the other system. The 

same is true for members who terminate employment under ACERA, defer 

retirement from ACERA and within six months begin employment that is eligible 

for membership in a reciprocal retirement system. 

2. If there is overlapping service credit between ACERA and a reciprocal system, 

reciprocity cannot be established. ACERA may, however, adjust the date a person 

becomes an ACERA member to as much as 12 weeks after entrance into service in 

an ACERA-covered position (with appropriate adjustments to service credit and 

contributions) and/or adjust the date a member terminates service to as much as 12 

weeks prior to the member’s termination from an ACERA-covered position (with 

appropriate adjustments to service credit and contributions).3 

B. Key Reciprocal Benefits4 

1. The entry age for determining member contributions (when applicable) will be the 

age when the member entered his or her first reciprocal membership. 

2. Service credit earned in a reciprocal system will be considered for the purpose of 

establishing a member’s eligibility for benefits, if the member retires concurrently 

from ACERA and the reciprocal system (concurrent retirement is not required if 

the member is not eligible to retire from the reciprocal system). 

3. Amounts earned while an active member of a reciprocal system will be considered 

when determining the member’s “final compensation,” if the member retires 

 
3  Such adjustments of membership and termination dates are permitted for any member who has not yet received a retirement allowance 
payment from ACERA. 
4   See the Board Reciprocity Policy for more information about reciprocity. 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 7 

 
concurrently from ACERA and the reciprocal system. (concurrent retirement is not 

required if the member is not eligible to retire from the reciprocal system). 

4. Safety members who withdrew retirement contributions after termination of 

employment and currently work for a reciprocal agency, or -any member who 

withdrew contributions and currently is a safety member in a reciprocal agency, 

may be eligible to redeposit funds and establish reciprocal benefits. 

5. A member granted a disability retirement by a reciprocal retirement system may be 

granted a disability retirement by ACERA, although the calculation of benefits may 

be different than if the disability had been granted by ACERA. A member who 

receives a disability allowance from ACERA or certain reciprocal systems may be 

subject to a reduction and benefits under Government Code Section 31838.5. See 

the Board Reciprocity Policy for more information on that subject.   

VII. Service Retirement Benefits 

A member’s service retirement allowance is based on a formula that accounts for the member’s 

age at retirement, years of service and “final compensation.” For example, if a member under the 

2% a 57 formula retires at age 57, the member’s retirement allowance will be 2% of the member’s 

“final compensation” per year of service credit. An earlier retirement lowers the factor below 2% 

and a later retirement increases the factor above 2% according to a chart in the statute with the 

benefit formula. The following are descriptions of the key components of each retirement Tier: 

A. Tier 1 General 

1. 2% at age 57 (Gov’t Code §31676.12. shows factor at each retirement age). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and tenure, at age 50 with 10 or 

more years of qualifying membership and five or more years of service credit, or at 

any age with five or more years of service credit and 30 years of qualifying 

membership. 

3. “Final compensation” is based on the highest 12 consecutive months of 

“compensation earnable” as defined by Gov’t Code §31461. 

B. Tier 1 Safety 

1. 3% at age 50 (Gov’t Code §31664.1 shows factor at each retirement age). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and tenure, at age 50 with 10 or 

more years of qualifying membership and five or more years of service credit, or at 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 8 

 
any age with five or more years of service credit and 20 years of qualifying 

membership. 

3. “Final compensation” is based on the highest 12 consecutive months of 

“compensation earnable” as defined by Gov’t Code §31461. 

C. Tier 2 General 

1. 2.09% at age 62 (Gov’t Code §31676.1 shows factor at each retirement age). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and tenure, at age 50 with 10 or 

more years of qualifying membership and five or more years of service credit, or at 

any age with five or more years of service credit and 30 years of qualifying 

membership. 

3. “Final compensation” is based upon the highest 36 consecutive months of 

“compensation earnable” as defined by Gov’t Code §31461. 

D. Tier 2 Safety 

1. 3% at age 50 (Gov’t Code §31664.1 shows factor at each retirement age). 

a. Safety members in the Sheriff’s Department (excluding Probation Officers) 

hired between October 17, 2010 and December 31, 2012 were able to elect 

Tier 2C (2% at age 50, found in Gov’t Code §31664) or Tier 2D (3% at age 

55, found in Gov’t Code §31664.2). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and tenure, at age 50 with 10 or 

more years of qualifying membership and five or more years of service credit, or at 

any age with five or more years of service credit and 20 years of qualifying 

membership. 

3. “Final compensation” is based upon the highest 36 consecutive months of 

“compensation earnable” as defined by Gov’t Code §31461. 

E. Tier 3 General 

1. 2.5% at age 55 (Gov’t Code §31676.18 shows factor at each retirement age). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and tenure, at age 50 with 10 or 

more years of qualifying membership and five or more years of service credit, or at 

any age with five or more years of service credit and 30 years of qualifying 

membership. 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 9 

 
3. “Final compensation” is based on the highest 12 consecutive months of 

“compensation earnable” as defined by Gov’t Code §31461. 

 

F. Tier 4 General 

1. 2% at age 62 (Gov’t Code §7522.20(a) shows factor at each retirement age). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and at age 52 with five or more 

years of service credit. 

3. “Final compensation” is based on the 36 highest consecutive months of 

“pensionable compensation” as defined and capped by Gov’t Code §§ 7522.34 and 

7522.10. 

G. Tier 4 Safety 

1. 2.7% at age 57 (Gov’t Code §7522.25(d) shows the factor at each retirement age). 

2. Members may retire at age 70 regardless of service and at age 50 with five or more 

years of service credit. 

3. “Final compensation” is based on the 36 highest consecutive months of 

“pensionable compensation” as defined and capped by Gov’t Code §§ 7522.34 and 

7522.10. 

VIII. Disability Benefits 

A. The Board makes all determinations regarding member’s entitlement to a disability 

retirement. See ACERA’s Disability Retirement Procedures for more information about 

the process of applying for a disability retirement. 

B. Service-Connected-Disability. There is no minimum service credit requirement for a 

service-connected disability. A service-connected disability retirement allowance is the 

higher of the one-half of the member’s “final compensation” or the member’s service 

retirement allowance if the member is eligible to retire for service. There are tax benefits 

associated with a service-connected disability. 

C. Non-Service-Connected Disability. Only members with five5 years of service credit are 

eligible for a non-service-connected disability retirement. Gov’t Code §31726 and the 

several code sections that follow it describes how to calculate a non-service-connected 

disability retirement depending on a variety of circumstances. 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 10 

 
IX. Death Benefits 

ACERA pays different death benefits, including continuing allowances in some instances, 

depending a variety of circumstances, including, but not limited to,: whether the member is 

general or safety, retired or active, retired for service or disability, the member’s years of service 

and age at death, the cause of death and whether the member has a surviving spouse, domestic 

partner5 or surviving unmarried minor children (up to age 22 if unmarried and enrolled as a full-

time student in an accredited school). An ACERA overpayment to the member that was 

unrecovered at the time of death will be deducted from any benefits owed to the member’s 

beneficiaries to the maximum extent permitted by law. Spouses, domestic partners and qualified 

children may file a Service-Connected Death Allowance Application with ACERA if they believe 

the member’s death was a result of injury or disease arising out of and in the course of the 

member’s employment, and such employment contributed substantially to the member’s death.  

X. Work for a Participating Employer After Retirement 

A. Retired members may be reinstated into active status when certain requirements are met. 

When a member is reinstated, the member’s ACERA benefits are suspended and the 

member resumes making member contributions and earning service credit in ACERA. 

Gov’t Code §§ 31680.74 and 31680.5 governs the terms and conditions of reinstatement 

for eligible members. A Participating Employer must promptly inform ACERA, in 

writing, when it plans on reinstating a member into active status, so that ACERA can 

confirm that the reinstatement is proper and obtain all necessary completed forms and 

information from the Participating Employer and the member. 

B. Retired members may work on a limited basis for a Participating Employer without 

reinstating, if they comply with certain requirements, which are found in Gov’t Code §§ 

7522.56, 31680.2 and 31680.6, and the Board’s Regulations for IRC Section 401(a) Return 

to Work and Separation from Service. When members and employers violate those rules, 

ACERA will apply Gov’t Code § 31680.9.  

 
5  To qualify for surviving spouse death benefits, a domestic partnership must be registered with the State of California or County of Alameda 

(County employees only). Filings in other jurisdictions (e.g., another county) will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. Filings with ACERA or 
participating employers other than the County ordinarily do not qualify for surviving spouse death benefits. 



Membership Policy revised November 16March 
19, 20263 

page 11 

 
XI. Policy Modification 

The Governance Committee, or other committee designated by the Board, shall review this  

policy at least every three years. The Committee shall make recommendations to the Board 

concerning any improvements or modifications it deems necessary.  

 

XII. Policy History 

A. The Board adopted this policy on July 17, 2003. 

B. The Board reviewed and affirmed this policy, with revisions, on November 16March 19, 

20263.6 

 

 

6 Previous amendment dates all with revisions: August 16, 2007; August 18, 2011; December 15, 2011; December 20, 2012; March 21, 2013, December 19, 
2013; June 18, 2015; July 21, 2016; December 20, 2018; December 17, 2020; February 18, 2021; January 10, 2023; and July 20, 2023 and November 16, 
2023. 


	Governance Committee Agenda for March 19,
2026
	Memo To Governance Committee March 2026
	Board Communications Policy Redline for March 2026 Meeting
	Service Provider Policy March 2026
	Membership Policy March 2026





